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6200-6255 Pershing, St. Louis, MO
6305-6379 Pershing, University City, MO
6204- 6255 Waterman, St. Louis, MO
6300-6379 Waterman, University City, MO
6200-6252 McPherson, St. Louis, MO
63036334 McPherson, University City, MO
6201-6253 Westminster, St. Louis, MO
6304-6345 Westminster, University City, MO
6203-6254 Washington, St. Louis, MO
6300-6380 Washington, University City, MO
201-515 Westgate, University City, MO
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PARKVIEW OWNERSHIP LIST
(owner's adcress is street address unless otherwise indicated)
PERSHING
6200 - Richard & Hillary Shewmaker 6239 - Caryl K. Love
St. Louis, MO 63130 St. Louis, MO 63130
6203 - William Carr Lane 6244 - Clyde Snider
St. Louis MO 63130 St. Louis, MO 63130
6208 - N. J. and Lula Law 6245 - A. Erdelen
St. Louis, MO 63130 St. Louis, MO 63130
6209 - John & Anna Mason 6248 - Lawrence Stern
St. Louis, MO 63130 St. Louis, MD 63130
6214 - Jerry Rosenblum 6249 - James C. Neilson
St. lLouis, MO 63130 St. Louis, MO 63130
6215 - Robert & Barbara Schnaible 6254 - Emil Fleck
St. Louls, MO 63130 St. Louis, MO 63130
6219 - Bonnie MclLaughlin 6255 - John Sullivan
St. Louis, MO 63130 St. Louis, MO 63130
6224 - M. C. Park 6305 - Anne W. Judy
S5t. Louis, MO &3130 University City, MO 63130
6225 ~ Lowell & Sue Hey 6306 - George & Catherine Ittner
St. Louis, MO 63130 University City, MO 63130
6228 - Alfred & Janet Katzenberger 6309 - Dwight & Ellen Matthews
St. Louis, MO 63130 University City, MO 63130
6229 - Paul Wagman €310 - Richard & Sondra Stang
St. Louis, MO 63130 University City, MO 63130
6234 - Henry & Yvonne Christopher 6312 - Howard & Winifred Derrickson
St. Louis, MO 63130 University City, MO 63130
6235 - Jose M. Sanchez 6315 - Ursula W. Goodenough
5t. Louis, MO 63130 University City, MO 63130
6238 - Cora Lippi 6316 - D. C. & D. Sarada Rao
St. Louis, MO 63130 University City, MO 63130
|
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6318

6321

6322

6323

6326

6327

6330

6331

6334

6335

6336

6339

6342

6343

6346

6347

Louis P. Salini
University City, MO 63130

Betty J. Marshall
University City, MO 63130

John P, Rice & Nancy Newman
University City, MO 63130

Gerard & Jo Anne Barry
University City, MO 63130

Grace M. Williamson
University City, MO 63130
Charles F, Stubbers
University City, MO 63130
Douglas M. & Sherida Tollefsen
University City, MO 63130

A. Boyd & Patricia Griswold
University City, MO 63130

James & Dorothy Doyle
University City, MO 63130

Gary & Mary Brake
University City, MO 63130

George L. Binnington
University City, MO 63130

Kenneth & Rise Shepsle
University City, MO 63130

James D. & Judith Wilson
University City, MO 63130

Lewis A. Goldstein
University City, MO 63130

Hanns S. & Elizabheth Iglauer
University City, MO 63130

Jacques & Nancy Baenziger
University City, MO 63130

6350 -

6351 -

6354 -

6355 -

6358 -

6359 -

6363 -

6366 -

6369 -

6370 -

6374 -

6377 -

6379 -

Arthur & Kathryn Cleaves
University City, MO 63130

John D, & Mary Sprague
University City, MO 63130

Douglas & Nanette Killebrew
University City, MO 63130

William G. & Reta Madsen
University City, MO 63130

Robert C. & Frances Dunn
University City, MO 63130

George M. Pepe
University City, MO 63130

Thomas P. & Mary Knoten
University City, MO 63130

August G. & Dianne Ladendecker
University City, MO 63130

James R. & Gertrude B. Wiant
University City, MO 63130

Edwin S. & Deborah R. Harris
University City, MO 63130

John & Patricia Fitzgerald
University City, MO 63130

John F. & Joanne O'C. Reilly
University City, MO 63130

James & Elaine Alt
University City, MO 63130



s

NPS Form 10-900-»

{3-82)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet Parkview

ltem number 4

OMB No. 1024-0018
Expires 10-31-87

6204

6212

6217

6218

6224

€230

6235

6236

6241

6242

6248

6249

6254

6255

6300

6301

WATERMAN

Ted Seitles
St. Louls, MO 63130

Alan & Mary wWright
St. Louis, MO 63130

Jerry & Susan Jaycox
St. Louis, MO 63130

John Fox
St. Louls, MO 63130

H. W. & Mary Watkins
St. Louis, MO 63130

Harry Hughes
St. Louis, MO 63130

Dr. Theodore Meiners
5t. Louls, MO 63130

(. B. Hirsch
st. Louis, MO 63130

Carl & Cathy Fimmano
St. Louis, MO 6&3130

Talmadge & Sara Newton
St. Louis, MO 63130

Ed & Sandra Dodson
St. Louis, MO &3130

John % Patricila Christie
St. Louis, MO 63130

Edward Furo
St. Louls, MO 63130

John & Janet Gourley
St. Louls, MO 63130

Thomas & Georgea Coleman
University City, MO 63130

William C. Schiller
University City, MO 6&3130

6306 -

6307 -

6310 -

6311 -

6313 -

6314 -

6315 -

6316 -

6318 -

6319 -

6325 -

6326 -

6330 -

6331 -

6334 -

6335 -

Nelson & Mu-lien Wu
University City, MO 63130

John A., Jr. & Julia Ladd
University City, MO 63130

William & Cherry Phillips
University City, MO 63130

Ronald & Virginia Weil
University City, MO 63130

Arthur & Mary Lieber
University City, MO 63130

Richard & Kathryn Sheehan
University City, MO 63130

Robert H. Kubie
University City, MO 63130

Gary E. & Martha Hirshberg
University City, MO 63130

Alan L, & Joan C. Pearlman
University City, MO 63130

Fred W. & Dolores Kirk
University City, MO 63130

Robert & Judy Little
University City, MO 63130

Robert & N. Kimasa Sindel
University City, MO 63130

James & Roberta Dearing
University City, MO 63130

B. E. Chappelow
University City, MO £3130

Jacob & Darrell Berg
University City, MO 83130

John T. & Shella Onuska
University City, MD 63130
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6338

6339

6342

6343

6346

6347

6350

6351

6354

6355

6358

6359

6362

6363

6366

6367

Charles & Felice Fisher
University City, MO 63130

Harold W. & Phylis B. Dodge
University City, MO 63130

William F. & Betty S. Carroll
University City, Mo 63130
Vickie i.. Berry

University City, MO 63130

Lee & Alexandra Benham
University City, MO 63130

Leo W. & Catherine Fitzmaurice
University City, MO 63130

Elvira Martin
University City, MO 63130

Ernst K. & Brigitte Zinnper
University City, MO 63130

Emily Richard
University City, MO 63130

Morey & Tessa Gardner
University City, MO 63130

Rudolph & Margaret Winter
University City, MO &3130

Goronwy L., Jr. & Gloria Broun
University City, MO 63130

Ralph W., Jr. & Eleanor Kalish
University City, Mo 63130

Charles & Mary Fleener
University City, MD 63130

Robert & Lynne Long
University City, MD &3130

Robert N. & Lucille Folkert
University City, MO 63130

6370

6371

6374

6375

6379

Richard & Sally Ward
University City, MO 63130

Paul & Zola Packman
St. Louis, MO 63130

Grace United Methodist Church
6199 Waterman
St. Louis, MO 63130

William & Judith K. Emerson
University City, MO 63130

Edward G. & Wendy Peskin
University City, MO 63130
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McPHERSON

6200

6205

6211

6212

6232

6237

65240

6246

6251

6252

6303

6306

Robert Renard
St. Louis, MO 63130

Ed & Claire Walsh
St. Louis, MO 63130

George & Amanda Murphy
St. Lauis, MO 63130

Frank & Helen Catanzaro
St. Louis, MO 63130

Philip & Kathy Duckett
St. Louis, MO 63130

Perry & Diana Johnson
St. Louis, M2 63130

Mrs. Pat Taylor

St. touis, MO 63130
Alan & Kathleen Hamilton
St. Louis, MO 63130

Michael Bearden
St. Louis, MO 63130

Eli & Renni Shuter
St. Louis, MO 63130

Michael Jaoseph Hurt
St. Louis, MO 63130

Melba Albrecht
St. Louis, MO 63130

Edward & Caroline Lyman
St. Louls, MO 63130

Richard & Susan Hayden
University City, MO 63130

Luke E. & Catherine Hart
University City, MO 63130

6309 -

6310 -

6320 -

6322 -

6325 -

6326 -

6330 -

6334 -

Joseph Byron Edwards
University City, MO 63130

Paul W. & Esther Kane
University City, MO 63130

George & Susan Monahan
University City, MD 63130

Frances Woodhams
University City, MO 63130

William D., Jr. & Darlene Camp
University City, MO 63130

Edward 0., Jr. & Dorothy Gotway
University City, MO 63130

Harting Properties
2809 Hamilton
St. Louis, Mo 63120

John & Anne Morris
University City, MO 6313Q
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WESTMINSTER
6201 - Joyce Hancock

St. Louis, MO 63130
6202 - Harry Imster

St. Louis, MO 63130
6210 - James & tecil Saller

St. Louis, MO 63130
6211 - Jack & Marie Plunkert

St. lLouls, MO 63130
6219 - Joseph Keaveny

St. Louis, MO 63130
4220 - Roger & Hillary Dehenport

St. Louis, MO 63130
6225 -~ Thomas Garrett

St. touis, MO 63130
6228 - Edward Gund

St. Louis, MO 631320
6233 ~ Michael & Rosalyn Kass

St. Louis, MO 63130
6238 - Christopher Buechler

St. Louls, MO 63130
6239 - Gabe Graossherg

St. Louis MO 63130
6245 ~ Andy & Barhara Dorris

St. Louis, MO 63130
6250 —~ Bob & Ann Horper

St. Louis, MO 63130
6252 - Leon & Ann Robison

St. Louis, MO 63130
6253 ~ Gary Carr

5t. Louis, MO 63130
6304 - William & Mary Gass

University City, MO 63130

6305

6307

6308

6311

6316

6323

6324

6327

6331

6335

6336

6345

6345

Ralph A. Kinsella, Jr.
University City, MO 63130

Edwin S. & Henrietta Taylor
University City, MO &3130

Robert & Ann Gartland
University City, MO 63130

John E. & Eleanor Ruder
University City, MO 63130

Arthur & Beverly Platt
University City, MO 63130

Christopher T. Hexter
University City, MO 63130

Alice Dean Kitchen
University City, MO 63130

Charles C. & Clara B. Myers
University City, MO 63130

Katherine G. Wells
University City, MO &3130

Thomas H. & Ann Cohen
University City, MO 63130

Linda Lou Potash
University City, MO 63130

Filippo J. & Margaret Ferrigni
University City, MO 63130

Filippo J. & Margaret Ferrigni
University City, MO 63130
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WASHINGTON

6203

6208

6209

6214

6215

6218

6219

6223

6224

6228

6229

6324

6235

6238

6233

E£244

Henry Blumenthal
St. Louis, MO 63130

Sandy & Sue Rothschild
St. Louis, MO 63130

Joe deBettencourt
St. Louis, MO 63130

Charlotte Larson
St. Louis, MD 63130

Joseph & Anne Steinbach
St. Louis, MO 63130

Hal Lansing
St. Louis, MO 63130

Richard & Janina Rapfogel
St. Louis, MO 63130

Janet Scott
St. Louis, MO 63130

Booker & Lane Shaw
S5t. Louis, MO 63130

Manuel & Katherine Ramos
St. touis, MO 63130

Jerry & Yvonne Hunter
St. Louis, MO 63130

Doublas Berg

St. Louis, MO 63130
Michael & Mary Burke
St. Louis, Mo 63130

Daniel & Robin Wald
S5t. Louis, MO 63130

Fred Sherman
5t. Louis, MO 63130

Bob & Nancy Hinkehein
St. Louis, MO 63130

6248 -

6249 -

6251 -

6253 -

6254 ~

6300 -

6301 -

6306 -

6309 -

6311 -

6312 -

6314 -

6315 -

6316 -

6317 -

6310 -

Glenn & Jane Conroy
St. Louis, MO &3130

Sherman & Ann Lyman
St. Louis, MO 63130

Terrence & Mary Vanicelli
St. Louis, MO 63130

Ed Baum
St. Louis, MO 63130

Howard Nathanson
St. Louis, MO 63130

John M. Grieshach
University City, MO 63130

Susan H. Koppelman
University City, MO 63130

Horace H. & Loretta Hoffman
University City, MO 63130

John Chirgwin
University City, MO 63130

M. Lee Perry
University City, MO 63130

Roger L. & Stephanie Goldman
University City, MO 63130

Clarence & Darlene Menke
University City, MO 63130

Winslow & Kathryn Rogers
University City, MO 63130

Rohert & Rose-Marie Smith
University City, MO 63130

E. Richard & Anne Bischoff
University City, MO 63130

George D. & Carol Wilner
University City, MO 63130
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6320

6321

6325

6328

6330

6334

6338

6341

6345

6348

6349

6352

6353

6355

6356

6360

€361

David & Sharon Perry
University City, MO 63130

George & Mary Gilley
University City, MO 63130

William T. & Gladys Smith
University City, MO 63130

Valerie B. Safron
University City, MO 63130

Ruth V. Heydebrand
University City, MO &3130

Verin & Elizabeth Reedy
University City, MO 63130

Geerge & Deborah Genung
University City, MO 63130

Marshall Alan Permutt
University City, MO 63130

Paniel & Xenia Naert
University City, MO 63130

Cynthia & Thomas Martin
University City, MO 63130

John & Sue Clancy
University City, MO 63130

Carl F. & Catherine Gissler
University City, MO 63130

Robert & Amne Spencer
University City, MO 63130

Robert & Nancy Klepper
University City, MO 63130

Thomas B, Jr. & Helen Harvey
University City, MO &3130

Solon & Margery Beinfeld
University City, MO 63130

Byron C., Jr., & Lois K. Herbert
University City, MO 63130

6364 -

6368 -

6372 -

6376 -

6380 ~

Jane C. Parks
University City, MO 63130

Emmanuel C. & Marian D. Paxham
University City, MO 63130

Richard & Anne Markham
University City, MO 63130

Samuel & Jane 0. Wayne
University City, MO 63130

Morris K. & Nell Ambler
University City, MO 63130
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WESTGATE
201 - Roy & Marilyn Mathieson

University City, MO 63130
207 - Nancy A. Kingsbury

University City, MO 63130
211 - Daniel J. & Helen 0Q'Connell

University City, MO 63130
215 - Jean Torizzo

University City, MO 63130
217 - Mark Fineberg

University City, MO 63130
225 - Stanley & Joan Elkin

University City, MO 63130
227 - Ted J. Fanson

University City, MO 63130
231 - Arthur Chamberlin

University City, Mo 63130
235 - Donald Austin Spencer

University City, MO 63130
239 - Laurence Cocben

University City, MO 63130
243 - John & Elizabheth Green

University City, MO 63130
305 - Frederick & Virginia Stith

University City, MO 63130
311 -~ Henry Swartz

Universitv City, MO 63130
315 ~ N. Caldwell Worsham

University City, MO 63130
319 - David Howard

University City, MO 63130
325 - Steven & Judith Zwicker

University City, MO 63130

329

333

337

341

345

349

353

401

405

409

415

421

423

427

431

435

Jeffrey Saffitz
University City, MO 63130

Kathi & David Swimmer
University City, MO 63130

Robert & Rose Salisbury
University City, MO 63130

Eliot & Jane Porter
University City, MO 63130

Christy Farrar
University City, MO 63130

Robert Perrillo
University City, MD 63130

Lindsay Helmholz
University City, MO 63130

Michaele Gold
University City, MO 63130

William Webber
University City, MO 63130

Beverly Berla
University City, MO 63130

Louis & Rita Magyar
University City, MO 63130

Vernon Davis
University City, MO 63130

David Durham
University City, MC 63130

Joseph Price
University City, MO 63130

Bryan & Tina Gerard
University City, MO 63130

David & Barbara Carkeet
University City, MD 63130
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439 ~ Carl Wellman
University City, MO 63130

443 - Samuel Pearson
University City, MO 63130

447 - Ernest & Judy Stix
University City, MO 63130

501 - Donald K. Anderson
University City, MO 63130

505 - Richard Ruland
University City, MD 63130

509 - Catherine Curick
University City, MO 63130

51% - Susan Corcoran
University City, MO 63130
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Parkview is also represented in:

- Missouri State Historic Survey, 1979; state survey; records at Missouri Department
of Natural Resources, P.0. Box 176, Jefferson City, MO 65102 (state)

- Historic District Certification, Skinker-DeBaliviere/Catlin Tract/Parkview, 1985;
state survey; records at Landmarks Association, St. Louis, MO (state)



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
____.excellent __ deteriorated X unaltered - original site
_X_good e TUinS ____ aitered ___ _moved  date
___ fair -..- unexposed

Describe the present and original [if known) physical appearance

Parkview is a residential district covering 70 acres, two thirds of which lie
in University City In St. Louis County and the remainder in the City of St. Louis.
Common areas, including streets, tree lawns and parks, constitute a greater part of this
area than the privately-owned lots. The 264 houses (84 in the City of St. Louis) face
seven named streets. Parkview was designed in 1904 to attract middle-to upper-class
families, and about 85 per cent of the houses were built between 1906 and 1914,
They were mostly architect-designed and rrepresent the styles popular in those years.

The design of Parkview follows the tradition of the private place that had developed
in the pecceding half-century in St. Louis, with limited street access and eommon areas
held by trustees (here called agents), but it departs from the typical rectilinear
private street plan in its size and Its curvilinear streets, lald out as horseshoe curves
set within each other. The constantly changing vistas created by this pattern effectively
dissolve the grid pattern of the city to the east. The northwest and southwest corners
of Parkview, bypassed by the curving streets, are given over to heavily wooded triangular
pakks which intensify the green environment created by the closely-spaced street trees.
Service alleys bisect the inner blocks, while the peripheral blocks back onto other
rights-of-way: to the west a public walkway named Greenway and its continuation as
Melville Avosu.; to the north an alley serving commercial buildings that Jace Delmar;
and to the south Millbrook Boulevard, a major thoroughfare. The primary entrance to the
neighborhood is to the east, where five streets meet Skinker Boulevard, a north-south
artery paralieling the boundary between St. Louis City and County.

Each street is marked at Skinker by large, smooth-faced stone piers crowned by urns,
These piers have wall-mounted lanterns with the names of the streets printed on the glass,
while plaques with the word ''Parkview' are fitted into the entablature zones on the
side faces. The aidewalks passing these urn-topped piers are marked on the ppposite
sides by shorter piers, which are also repeated at the entrances to the alleys. A
coursed rubble limestone wall four Teet high parallels Skinker and links these piers,
except between Waterman and McPherson, where a semicircular shaped park provides an
opportunity for a more formal treatment. Here lengths of ashlar wall about eight feet
high link the urn-topped piers to taller and bulkier pylons having dentilled cornices
and monitor-like finials ornamented with volutes. These pylons are connected to each
other by lower ahhlar walls which give way to wrought-iron railings toward the center of
the park. This composition of piers, pylons, walls, fence and park form a formal
frontispiece for Parkview. At.the west side of the district a gate with brick piers
closes Center Street at Melville Avenue. All these entrances are closed periodically
to regulate traffic and to maintain subdivision property rights. The north entrances
at Limit and Westgate have pylons similar to the secondary entrances on .Skinker but
are closed to vehicular traffic by wrought-iron gates.

The city-county line is marked by a pedestrian walkway called Limits Walk, which
runs from Delmar Boulevard on the north to Millbrook and Washington University on the south.
Along the streets trees are planted buth in the five-foot-wide tree lawns and in the front
yards, most of which are raised above sidewalk level and extend to a uniform 50-foot
setback line. Original trees, the majority of which survive, were sycamore, pin oak,
elm, soft maple, pine, and ash. Replacements and additions are provided by the Parkview
Agents. The trees give a visual unity to the district, a continuous rhythmic columnar
architecture. A second vertical element, the street lgghts, are not original
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but are a modern adaptation of an earlier gas light design.

Transportation has never posed a problem for Parkview residents. In the early
20th century, major streetcar lines ran on the thoroughfares that surround the district.
Delmar Boulevard carried the Delmar Street Car Line, which '"Tooped" around the business
district there; the area is still known as the Loop. Skinker Boulevard had the Clayton
Street Car line, and to the west, the Kirkwood-Ferguson Car Line ran from north to
south connecting two county suburbs. The Rock Island Railroad paralleled Millbrook on
the southern boundary of Parkview.! This accessibility was a strong selling point made
by real estate agents to prospective buyers. When the automobile became popular, carriage
houses were converted to garages, and new garages were built. The new garages often
echoed the style and choice of materials used in the main house, and some are architec~
turally significant in their own right. Later, as garages posed maintenance problems,

some were torn down.

The designs of the houses have been influenced by subdivision layout and deed
restrictions. Lot frontages vary from 50 to 100 feet, with the larger lots concentrated
in the center of the subdivision on McPherson and Westminster, while the smaller lots,
and conseauently the smaller houses, are found on the perimeters. Minimum construction
costs stipulated in the deed restrictions ranged hetween $4,000 and $7,000; as the result
of inflation, later houses tend to be smaller in scale than thelr earlier counterparts,
although the materials used remain generally consistent.

Roof materials are predominantly slate and tile; rooflines are generally either
gabled or hipped, whiie gables may be either front-facing or at the sides. The
prevailing building material is brick, generally dark red with dark mortar joints,
laid in a stretcher bond or a variation combining courses of stretcher and Flemish
bond. Terra cotta and glazed bricks were used to vary wasonyy surfaces with geometric
patterning. They are typically located at cornices, near windows and doors. Other
secondary materials used are stucco, stone and wood.

Parkview's architecture reflects the push and pull in the early twentieth century
between traditional and progressive styles. Americans turned to nostalgia during this
period as represented by English prototypes and American styles of the Eastern seaboard.
The English Revival styles represented tradition, wealth, and good taste, while the
American styles, the Colonial and Gecrglan Revival, were associated with patriotism
and restraint. While traditional, these relatively restrained styles were, perhaps,

a reaction to the Victorian excess. By contrast, reformers opposed to the emotionalism

of the Romantics sought to eliminate excessive ornamentation. These utilitarians focused
on "honest" and "useful'' architectureZ This philosophy derived from William Morris and
the Arts and Crafts Movement in England, and was publicized in this country by Gustav
Stickliey through his simple but functional mission furniture and his magazine The Craftsman. 3
These ''modern'' houses were prototypes of the modern house of today. This new ideclogy

was represented in Parkview by a house that, due to the narrow urban lot, had taller
proportions and was more compact in plan than the typical modern house. These Utilitarian
styles included the Bungaltow, Craftsman, American Foursquare and Prairie styles.

Features from these styles were combined to create vernacular designs. Many porches

and eaves reflect the Craftsman influence with exposed rafters, rectangular knee braces
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supporting the eaves, large, over-sized porch columns and simplified forms. The Prairie
style is seen Tn the emphasis on horizontal lines, prqjecting eaves with windows set

in horizontal bands and window glazing. The American: Foursquare, which is found across
the country, emerged because of its simplicity and practicality. Architects and buijlders
took the basic shape of the Foursquare ({generally two stories, somewhat box-shaped,

with a porch extending across the front facade and with a low hipped réof with dormer) and
added other decorative motifs that were popular at the time.

Following is a sample representation of the houses in Parkview. Many of the first
houses buiit in Parkview were in the Colonial Revival style. The most popular eclectic
style in Parkview was the Georgian Revival adaptation.

6325 Washington and 6349 Washington were two of the first houses built in the University
City portion of Parkview. They are very similar in design except for their porches,

and there is one extra bay on the front facade of 6349 Washington. The most interesting
feature of 6325 Washington is the splayed oriel window on the second story. The hipped
roof has gray asphalt shingles. The cornice is decorated with modillions with an acanthus
ieaf motif, which is carried over to the stone keystone over the first-floor window.

The front nerch has a modillion cornice, dentils, and unfluted columns and pilasters

with lonic capitals. Wrought-iron railings stand above the portico. The doorway
includes side and transom lights. The walls are red-brown brick laid in stretcher bond

in dark mortar; altermnating brick quoins appear at the front corners. The gable dormers
are pedimented and have three large upper sash panes over one lower pane. A raised water-
table is accentuated with stone. This house was built c. 1906-7;

6311 Westminster {1909-11) is associated with Leonhard Haeger, architect. This symmetrical
Georgian facade is decorated with stone motifs..: The five frontiwindows ‘have stone lintels
with keystones. The second floor, middle window has a stone surround with volutes on

the sides. The gabled dormers have arched windows with traceries in the upper sash. The
gambrel roof is of green slate. The cornice is decorated with modillions. The entry is
accentuated with a stone surround with lonic half-columns and pilasters surmounted by
entablature and balustrade with urns on corner piers. The brick Is gray-buff in color,
with narrow mortar joints.

6363 Pershing (1909-11). 0Otto J. Boehmer designed and built this Georgian Revival
_house. It is one of a row of Colonial Revival houses facing )
Pershing Park. The distinguishing features are the fenestration decorations. The
windows are decorated with flat arches with radiating brick vousscirs, elongated stone
keystones, and stone sills. ATl windows have workable shutters, louvred on the second
story and paneled on the first story with heart-shaped cutouts. The central entrance
is framed with Roman lonic pilasters and pediment and is set in a semi~elliptical
brick arch. The five-paneled door is surrounded with leaded glass fanlight and
sidelights. The gable roof, of gray slate, has three slate-clad pedimented dormers.
The arched windows have traceries in the upper sash. The brick is red and brown in white
mortar and i< laid in stretcher bond with Flemish variation, every sixth row.

6371 Watermar (1910) was built by Adolph G. Paquier. |Its shingled gable is decorated



e

NFPS Form 10:-300-a OMB No. 1024 -0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet Parkview 'Item number 7 Page 3

with a boxed cornice, with dentils and modillions; returns at gable ends. First-story
windows are accentuated with stone keystones, springstones, and sill. The central
entry is framed by a segmental pediment with lonic pilasters. The recessed doorway
has 1eaded sidelights and transom. The brick is in Flemish bond with a red wash over
brick and mortar.

325 Westgate (1913) is attributed to J. W. Leigh, architect, who lived here for one

year. This Georgian Revival building is meticulously detailed and proportioned. The
entrance is adorned with a broken, scrolled pediment which is crowned by a pineapple-
shaped finial. The door opening is recessed and has a six-panelled door with Teaded
sidelights. The entry is framed with lonic capite 1s on columns and pilasters. The

first- and second-story windows are decorated with flat arches with radiating brick
voussoirs and stone keystones, stone sills, and workable Touvred shutters. The cornice

is boxed, with modillions and dentils. The wallis are of culled brick, laid with white :
mortar in a stretcher bond/Flemish variation. The gable rocf is made of slate, with returns
on gable ends. The three gabled dormers have arched windows with traceries.

Another eclectic style popular in Parkview was the Tudor Revival adaptation with half-
timbered gables and upper stories. This style is loosely based on a variety of

early English building practices ranging from simple folk houses to late medieval
manor houses.” Many examples in this style emphasize high-pitched, gabled roofs with
decorative chimney caps.

6310 McPherson (1909). This Tudor Revival house was the first built by the George
Bergfeld Investment Construction Company. He was responsible far building about 35
houses in Parkview. This house Is situated on two lots, with a screened summerhouse

on the lot to the west of the house. It also has a large garage, originailly a carriage
house, which matches the house in style and materials. Distinguishing features are the
cross gables, decorated with half-timbering on gable ends. The eaves are slightly
flared, supported by large brackets. The entrance 1s accentuated with a stone ogee-
shaped hood mold. The small square window next to the entrance is leaded. A large
stained~glass window opens over the stairwell, next tc a chimney.

6334 Washington (1909), built by T. A. Gugerty, displays both Tudor and Craftsman
features. Notable features are the twin large-bracketed splayed oriel windows on
the second floor, half-timbered in the gable ends above them and the panels below
the windows. Main gables in side elevations are also half-timbered. Large knee

braces support eaves, a characteristic of the Craftsman style.

239 Westgate (1911) was designed and built speculatively by the architectural firm of
Roth and Study. This was ome of about 10 houses built by this firm, generally executed
in the English Revival styles. The distinguishing feature of their designs is the com-
bination of several textures. This house has a steep gable roof of green slate that
flares at the eaves. The two gabled dormers have leaded casement windows. The second
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story is finished \in stucco with timber corners; two oriel windows have mullioned and
transomed leaded glass in casement windows; the center transoms are arched. First-story
walls are of red-brown pressed brick taid in a Flemish bond with dark headers and white
mortar. The bay window contains four sash windows with tapered wood mullions. The
off-center entrance is framed with wood fluted pilasters supporting a console over the

arched door.

6359 Waterman (1913). This house was designed by Roth and Study and built by the
Federal Investment Company. The steep-pitched compound-gable roof is of green slate.
The second story has two oriel windows with curved pilaster supports; the windows are
casements. The plaster flares out at the first story with two rows of red tile. The
first story is of red-brown rough-faced brick laid in Flemish bond with narrow, tooled
mortar joints and white mortar. The first-story windows (small sash windows) have
chambered brick mullions and surrounds. The southwest corner contains an arcaded
brick porch. The two dormer windows have gables supported by brackets.

235 Westgate (1911), by Roth and Study, was built speculatively. The first residents
were Mr. and Mrs. Sears Lehmann. Mr. Lehmann was a prominent attorney and political
figure. Mrs. Lehmann was the daughter of Daniel Marlotte House, one of the founders

in 1872 of the St. Louis Gilobe, which became the St. Louis Globe-Democrat in 1875.

This house design displtays characteristics of 17th-century English cottages. The
two-bay front facade is decorated on the first floor with a pair of six small mullioned
casement windows with segmental-arched heads. The material used on the first story is
red brick, laid in a Flemish bond, with brown headers in white }ined mortar. The second
story has two pairs of casement windows with a wood surround. The window spandrel has
quatrefoil cutouts. The second floor is treated with half timber with vertical member.
The gable roof, parallel to the street, has green slate with slightly flared eaves. A
large gabled dormer with a pair of casement windows is decorated with half-timbering.

A large chimney on the north elevation has a corbelled cap. The main entrance is
jocated on the south side under a one-story brick porch with a Tudor-arched opening.

6374 Pershing (ca. 1914). This house is sited on a corner lot which enables the

floor plan to be more flexible. The cross gables which face Pershing and Westgate
Avenues are decorated with half-timbering. The eaves are supported by large brackets
and knee braces. The windows are accentuated with brick flat arches. The windows on
the north elevation are further accentuated with stone keystones. This L-shaped

floor plan was changed in 1921 with the addition of the front porch with mutti-paned
casement windows. This porch also serves as the front entrance. A bricked-up

window appears north.of the gable facing west. A gable dormer facing west is decorated
with large brackets. The brick is red~brown taid in a stretcher bond in black mortar.

The early emphasis on eclectic styles lessened with the first introduction to archi-
tectural modernism, which in the form of the Craftsman and Prairie styles dominated
the first two decades of the twentieth century. Parkview represents variants of

both styles chat reflect the originality of the architects' interpretations. Below
is a description of different manifestations of the "modern' house found in Parkviewﬁ
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6330 Washington (1908) was designed by Preston Bradshaw and Edward Nolte. It is one
of four houses built by the Contractors Building Company. The interesting feature of
this house is the upper-story balcony. Nolte designed 435 Westgate, which also has a
third-story balcony, unique to the neighborhood. The roof is red French tile, with
the gable dormer and hip roof over the balcony also tiled. The main roof jis supported
by two brackets. On the second floor, below the balcony, is an oriel window faced
with tile. The first floor has a triple window with wood mullions. The oversized
porch has a hipped shed roof supported by brick piers. The doorway includes transom
and sidelights. The chimney has interesting brickwork on the side and on the cap.
The walls are of tan pressed brick laid in stretcher bond with a Flemish variation
every sixth row, in tan mortar. This house displays both Craftsman and bungaloid

features.

6360 Washington (1908). This house was designed by Edward Nolte and Preston Bradshaw
and built by the Contractors' Building Company. This house exemplifies characteristics
of the Craftsman and Bungaloid styles with the simplicity of the American Foursquare.
The pyramidal roof is of red tile, with a tile-clad gable dormer. The broad eaves are
supported by four large brackets. The dormer window on the front facade contains three
small casement windows, framed by brick stretchers in relief, mitred at the corners,
and cascading to the second floor. A one-story entrance porch extends across three-
fourths of the front facade. The porch roof is hipped, with matching tile. The roof
is supported by brick piers supported by a low brick waill, and large wood brackets.

A pair of large corner braces flanks the porch piers, which are painted in the center
to stand out. The door is offset and has a large window in it.” A large stained-glass
window is in the center of the elevation behind the porch. The brick is varied in
color, laid in stretcher bond with a Flemish variation every sixth row, with tan mortar

joints.

6320 Washington {1909) was one of at least eleven houses built by 0. F. Humphrey. The
front facade is eye-catching, with the decorative window treatment that has been

painted white. The first-story windows are accentuated by a framed pediment. Second-
story windows have arched, molded surrounds. The roof is of French tile, with a street-
facing gable, treated as a classical pediment with modillions and returns. Entry is
located on the east side, with a hipped tile roof supported by wood Tuscan columns.

The brick is red-brown in color, laid in a stretcher bond with black mortar.

6355 Pershing {1910-11). This house was designed and owned by George A. Bayle, Jr., and
built by Charles C. Bradley. He designed his family's business warehouse at 4356

Duncan and a few houses -- which was the extent of his architectural career. He worked
in his family business, Bayle Products (peanut products). The brickwork is particularly
interesting, with the headers glazed with a lighter blue-gray color. The quoins and
window surrounds are also accentuated by the blue-gray glazed brick. The gabled hood
over the entrance is supported by large brackets. The upper sash has diamond-shaped
glazing. The wall brick is red-brown, pressed, in stretcher bond with a Flemish
variation every fourth row, and dark mortar. The third owner, Robert Vickrey, was on

the faculty of the Washington University School of Architecture, and wrote Anthrophysical

Form -~ a book comparing Parkview to a small village in India as regards the impact of
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physical forms on social patterns.

6351 Pershing (ca. 1910-12) was built by Charles A. Honig, who lived in it for the
first few years. This house, which faces Pershing Park, is the best example of the
Craftsman style represented in Parkview. Some characteristics are the wide semicir-
cular window on the third floor; the balcony with balustrade of scroll-sawn slats;

two large segmental-arched triple windows, double-hung, with leaded glass; battered
corner piers of brick which extend above the porch roof and are capped with stone.

Red tile covers the main and porch roofs. The red-brown brick is laid in black mortar.
The sun porch to the side has leaded glass on three sides.

6363 Waterman {1912-13). THis house is attributed to George F. Bergfeld, who built
about 35 houses in Parkview. One of his popular designs was the side entry floor
plan. An interesting feature of this house is the Spanish tile gable roof facing

the street. The wide eaves are supported by heavy shaped brackets. The center portion
of the facade projects slightly from the main wall at the second- and third-floor
levels, being supported by a bracketed stone cornice over the first-floor window. Atll
windows have multi-paned upper sashes with a single sash below. The second floor has
two double windows with stone keystones and continuous sill spanning the center block.
The third floor has a large center window flanked by smaller side windows with a
continuous sill. The porch has a hipped tile roof, broad eaves with slender shaped
rafters, and decorative tiled mertise joints where beams meet piers; red tile floor.
The raised coursed-Timestone basement is accentuated by an ashlar band.

Another style which surfaced in this country around 1900 was Art Nouveau. Art Nouveau
was characterized by free-flowing, organic, curvilinear lines. The style is repre-
sented in Parkview by stained glass and other interior decorations. The William A.
Hirsh house at 6236 Waterman best exemplifies this style. |t was designed by the
architectural firm of Helfensteller, Hirsh and Watson in 1908, for principal William
Hirsh. The exterior of the house has a simple, symmetrical facade in brown brick

and mortar. The windows are large, double-hung with eight over one lights and are
decorated with flat arches and stone keystones. The entrance has an arched console
supported by four large brackets. The door and sidelights contain stained glass

with curvilinear shapes. Photographs of the interior, as it was just after It

had been decorated, are attached. The Art Nouveau influence is apparent at the entrance,
with the free interpretation of the stair seat; the transoms in the dining room; and the
lighting fixtures throughout the first floor. The living and dining rooms were fur-
nished with heavy Craftsman furniture of red oak, stained dark to match the trim.
Hirsh had studied architecture in St. tLouis and worked for Henry lves Cobb in

Chicago. He worked for the Chicago Worid's Fair of 1893. in 1900 he spent time
working for Isaac Taylor and Oscar Enders, a designer. He formed his partnership
with Helfensteller and Watson in 1906. Major works for which this firm is credited
are the Nathan Frank Pavilion in Forest Park (1925) and the Moolah Temple in

St. Louis.” This firm also designed a Tudor/Craftsman house at 333 Westgate in
Parkview. ’
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Non-contributing Buildings

Non-contributing buildings are indicated in Figure I. The bulldings listed
below are less than fifty years oid.

1. 509 Westgate (ca. 1946-48)
2. 6203 Pershing (1950-52)

Figure | through Figure IV {included with this nomination) consist of sketch maps
of the Parkview Historic District. Figure | is a general sketch map indicating
intrusions. Figure |l shows all buildings coded by style classification, based
on A Field Guide to American Houses by Virginia and Lee McAlester. Figure Il is
a sketch map coded by date of construction. Figure IV is a sketch map, cross-
referencing properties to photographs.
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1. Information gathered from St.Louis County Atlas of 1909, early map of Parkview with

streetcar lines indicated. Other streetcar information was gathered from the Parkview
Gardens/Delmar Loop National Register Nomination, 1983.

2. 07d House Journal, January 1982, p. 2.

3. The Craftsman, which was published between 1901 and 1916, became the intellectual
leader of the post-Victorian era. Through the magazine, proponents of the '"new art'
influenced architecture, interfor design, furniture and even the moral temperament
of America {0ld House Journal, January 1982, p. 2).

4. Variants of the Tudor Revival style are discussed in A Field Guide to American
Houses (Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1984), p. 356.

5. This use of the term "modern'' is based on a definition by Mary Mix Foley (The
American House, New York: Harper & Row, 1980, p. 223). The decade between 1300 and

1910 saw the emergence of the modern house. New building materials allowed versatility;
new heating systems permitted free floor planning and the opening of the interior

to views and greenery. New mechanical devices, such as the refrigerater, stove and
washing machine, eliminated the need to store and reduced the working areas of the
house. The Arts and Crafts Movement, with its emphasis on simplicity and honest
craftsmanship, also helped lay the groundwork for the development of the modern house.

6. Urban Oasis (St. Louis: Boar's Head Press, 1979}, p. 20.
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8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

__ _prehistoric .. archeology-prehistoric _X__community pfanning _X_ landscape architecture rel.igion

__._1400-1499 _ _. archeology-historic ____ conservation . law —_ science

15001599 . __ agriculture ____ economics ____ literature _____sculpture

e 16001699 X architecture ___ education —_ military - sacial/

_ 17001799 _ __ art _____ engineering — — Mmusic humanitarian

. 1800-189% ___ commerce ____exploration/settiement ___ philoscphy —— theater

X 1900— . ... communications _ industry __ politics/government _____ transporiation
____invention ____ other (specity)

Specific dates 1904- 1934 Builder/Architect various

Statement of Significance {in one paragraph)

The Parkview district qualifies for Tisting in the National Register of Historic
Places under Criteria A and C and is significant in the areas of COMMUNITY PLANHING,
ARCHITECTURE, and LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE. Parkview reflects a national trend at the
turn of the century: the migration of the upwardly mobile, upper-middle~class population
from the congested inner city to a place that provided solitude and peace, vet was close
to the amentties of an urban area. 1t is an intact example of a planned, private resi-
dential place that has survived since its planning in 1905 and has retained its integrity
of architecture and landscape through the adherence to materials, scale, and siting.
1ts significance in the areas of COMMUNITY PLANNING and LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE derives
from its place in the work of Julius Pitzman, who designed over 47 private streets in
the St. Louis area between 1867 and 1904 and whose work was an important influence on
other city planners and developers.! Parkview was his last-and largest private place,
covering an area of 70 acres and consisting of 7 named streets and 254 houses. Eighty-
five percent of the houses were built between 1906 and 1914, and houses of sympathetic
design continued to be added through 1934. The district has significance in ARCHITECTURE
as the buildings reflect the traditional styles that were prevalent throughout the
United States at the turn of the century, giving way to the emerging "modern'' house
as it relates to an urban setting.

Early Development

The land in which Parkview lies was one of the holdings of Marie Louise Chouteau
Papin, whose father, Pierre Laclede, was the founder of St. Louis. By 1796, Marie Papin
had acquired over 2,700 acres. When the City of $t. Louis separated from the county in
1876, her descendants still had Tand holdings in this area, which was known as Kingsbury
Farm.2 Builders were by then working north of Delmar and northeast of Parkview. The
lack of interest in developing the Kingsbury Farm property was due to the fact that the
River Des Peres meandered southeast through the area into Forest Park. With higher
ground to the west draining Into this area, heavy rains flooded this natural flood plain.
This situation changed in 1901 when St. Louis selected the western half of Forest Park
as the site for the Louisiana Purchase Exposition. As one can imagine, this area was
scrutinized by businessmen, who visualized the profits that could be theirs if they could
develop it to handle the crowds that would be attending the Fair. That same year, Court-
land B. Van Sickler bought an interest in the parcels of land between DeBaliviere and
Skinker, and between Delmar and Forest Park, just east of the Parkview site.3 A few
months later, Henry S. Caulfield, then an attorney for the Lincoln Trust Company, filed
Articles of Incorporation in behalf of the Parkview Realty and Improvement Company. The
corporate directors listed were established St. Louisans: Adrian Ogle Rule, vice-president
of Kilgen-Rule Real Estate Company; Thomas Wright, a cigar manufacturer; Moses Greenwood, Jr.
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a U. S. Assistant Civil Engineer; George Durant, general manager of Bel} Telephone and
first vice-president of Lincoln Trust Company; and Edward H. Coffin, who worked for the
Wabash Railroad which ran on the southern boundary of Parkview.

The 1903 Parkview Realty and Improvement Company Prospectus states that the proposed
area for development '‘has peculiar value'" for the following reasons:

1) The proposed real estate is in a direct line from the quality housing in
the city.

2) Its location is protected by Washington University on the south, and its
association with the upper-class private places to the east such as West-
moreland, Portland, and Bell {later Kingsbury) Places would give the

area permanence.

3) Transportation facilities are ideal, with streetcar routes maintained around
the perimeter of the proposed real estate.

4) The land is prepared for development with water available at Skinker, and the
grading of the land has an ideal eastern slope. .

The Parkview Company divided its land into three sections, and developed it as a whole.

Section 1: The Catlin Tract was to be leased to the Exposition for facilities
needed by the Fair, such as rides, booths, etc. This area was from
Lindel]l Boulevard north to Forest Park Parkway.

Section 2: This land was to be leased to the public for construction of hotels
and restaurants to serve the Fair. After the Fair, this tand would
be deveioped for quality housing. The area was east of Skinker
Boulevard and north of Forest Park Parkway.

Section 3: This land, the present Parkview tract, was considered the most jdeal
and most desirable of the tracts.

The three tracts were sold to associates and acquaintances who could form a real estate
company. As a result, Beredith Realty was formed. Its Articles of Association lists

26 names, 10 of which wére directly associated with the development of Parkview. Thomas
Wright was an original director of Parkview Realty and Improvement Company. A. A. B.
Woerheide was President of Lincoln-Trust Company when Parkview Realty was incorporated;
George W. Lubke was second vice-president, and J. H. August Meyer was third vice~president.
Woerheide became president of Beredith Realty and Meyer was assistant secretary.

R. F. Kilgen and his partner, Adrian 0. Rule, ran Kilgen-Rule, which handled the sale of
Parkview lots. The architect William Albert Swasey was hired by Beredith Realty to

work on abou: a dozen speculative houses in Parkview but left town before he could fulfill
his assignment. Murray Carleton was president of the dry goods store where Courtland
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Van Sickler was listed as a clerk. Van Sickler {presumably with the help of others)

later purchased 95% of the common stock available from the Parkview Realty and Improvement
Company for $4,582,600.00. The last three names on the Articles of Association were

John €. Rokerts, one of the original Parkview Trustees; and C. Marquard, a brewer and
soon-to-be resident; and Julius Pitzman, who shaped and molded Parkview from a barren
parcel of farm land into the largest private place he would ever design in the St.

Louis area.?

Pitzman, born in 1837 in Halberstadt, Germany, came to St. Louis in 1854, where he worked
for his brother-in-law, Charles E. Salomon, who was the county surveyor. By 1856 Pitzman
was appointed city surveyor, and he started his own business in 1859 -- Pitzman's Co.,
Surveyors and Engineers. He designed his first private street, Benton Place at

Lafayette Park, in 1867, drawing on the earlier experiences of Lucas Place downtown,

and thereafter laid out all the private streets in St.Louis, which has more of them

than any other American city. In 1874 he studied park systems in Furope preparatory

to designing Forest Park, one of the largest municipal parks in the country. His
prestige extended outside St. Louis: he designed a city park in Little Rock, Arkansas,

a race course in Nashville, Tennessee, and the industrial suburb Granite City, !llinois.

The driving force in creating University City was Edward G. Lewis. In 1902 he purchased
85 acres of land on Delmar Boulevard, on ltand northwest of Parkview. He had studied

the housing trends in St. Louis and felt that the land he purchased would be valuable

in the near future. To insure this, he designed and planned, along with his commercial
enterprises, an upper-middle-class private subdivision. University Heights Number One
was planned directly west of his publishing building, called the '"Women's Magazine
Building,'" which currently serves as the University City City Hall. Both the building
and the subdivision are listed in the National Register of Historic Places.

University Heights One had established setbacks, a minimum cost of construction for
each lot, curving streets, and placement of roads and houses to fit the sloping
terrain, all characteristics of Parkview as well. The two districts developed at the
same time; although Lewis had a slight head start, Parkview deveioped at a fTaster
rate. Lewis was also interested in Parkview. His Women's Magazine published several
articles on houses in Parkview. Lewis was also interested in forming a new city,
called University City, in which he wanted to include the portion of Parkview that

was situated in the county. Parkview residents believed that it was illegal for
Lewis to acgdire_large tracts of land for incorporation. Parkview took the issue to
court, but lost. In 1906, Parkview was included in the new Fogrth class city, Uni-

versity City, for its close proximity to Washington University.

Another individual who influenced urban planning in the St. Louis area was Henry Wright
(1878-1936). He was an architect as well as a landscape architect and urban planner.
Wright had originally come to $t. Louis to work for George Kessler of Kansas City

(who had worked with Frederick Law Olmsted), to design the layout of the Louisiana
Purchase Exposition and to revitalize Forest Park after the Fair was over.9 He worked
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with the City of St. Louis and University City in preparing comprehensive planning objec-
tives. He laid out the Delmar Gardens subdivision in University City which is now part
of the Delmar Loop/Parkview Gardens district placed on the National Register in 1984.
Delmar Gardens is a subdivision specifically designed for apartments. Wright also
designed private upper class residential subdivisions in the county, inciuding Brentmoor
Park, Brentmoor and Forest Ridge in Clayton (1910-1913 -- listed in the National
Register) and the St. Louis Country Club in Ladue (1913). 10 After he left St. Louis

he gained national recognition in creating new towns in the eastern United States.
University City was fortunate in that pioneers of urban design were working in close
proximity. The forethought in planning against obsolescence has been challenged
throughout the years but these planned, private residential subdivisions remain to
shape University City's present appearance.

Planning and Design -- 1904

Parkview's name implies its close proximity to Forest Park, which was also designed by
Julius Pitzman. Both are sited on rectangular tracts of land, and their streets

are ltaid out in curvilinear patterns. Using the "norm' for street patterns -~ north

to south, east to west -- would have produced more saleable street frontage in Parkview.
Instead, Pizzman provided more green spaces; his curvilinear lines were more soothing
and peaceful to the eye than 45-degree angles. They added privacy as the streets curve
gently out of sight, and they diminished the monotony of the continuous building setback.
The unused areas left by the horsehoe-curved streets became triangular and semicircular
natural parks. Trees were planted around the perimeters of these parks to define and
enclose them.

Ancther planning tactic that Pitzman had incorporated into his subdivision design
was the continuing use of Center Street. This pre-existing street bisected Parkview
and was a major farm-to-market route. Was a truck route to be permitted to run
through the middle of a private single-family subdivision? Pitzman alleviated the
probfem by reducing g?nter Street to an alley (see map). Soon, farmers bypassed

the area altogether.

The trust indenture insured Parkview's permanence. Henry Caulfieild, who had filed

the plat design in November, 1905, as atEorney for Beredith Realty Company, in 1906
filed for a trust indenture. He was then a U. S. Representative and was soon to become
a Parkview homeowner and trustee. This trust indenture defined the rights and respon-
sibilities of the homeowners. | named three trustees -- Henry S. Caulfield, John C.
Roberts, a Adrian Rule -- and gave them the power to act on behalf on the Parkview
residents. =~ Some of the more important Trust Indenture Regulations were these:
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1} Not more than one residence may be erected on any lot, and not more than one
family may occupy any residence.

2) No apartment in, and no portion of, any house may be rented. The entire
house and lot must be rented as a one-family residence only.

3) No boarder or roomer may be taken into any residence, whether a business
boarder or roomer, student or otherwise.

4) No business, profession or commercial activity of any kind may be carried on
in any portion of any residence, except for a doctor or dentist.

5} No part of ary building, except open porches, may extend beyond the building
line, and no such open porch may extend more than ten (10) feet in front of

the building line.

6) No building or obstruction of any kind, except a fence or porte-cochere or
porch, may be built within five feet of the side lines of any lot, without
the written consent of the adjoining property owner.

7Y No fence, wall or hedge may be permitted in front of the building iine.

8) No nuisance of any kind may be maintained that would interfere with the peace
and normal rights and privileges of the neighbors.

The Trust indenture provided the Trustees with an easement over all the public areas

in Parkview including the streets, walks, parks and alleys. The Trustees would handle
other needed provisions such as security and street lights, and were given the authority
to collect assessments provided by the Indenture. The annual assessment was mandatory,
which acted as a safeguard against non-contributors and further strengthened the organiza-
tion's permanence. The indenture assured lot owners the use of the street, sidewalks,

etc.

it also repeated the specifications of the subdivision plat, including widths of
streets and allteys, sizes of lots, setbacks, minimum construction costs, and zoning
differentiation. The standard building setback was 50 feet. The minimum cost of
construction ranged between $4,000 and $7,000. Construction materials were to be
brick, stone or stucco; in the event, the majority of the houses were brick. The
targer lots and houses were nestled in the center of the district, perhaps to further
protect them from encroachments.

By 1905, Parkview was prepared for lot buyers and builders. The ltand had been graded
(before the World's Fair) and landscaped. Streets, sidewalks, curbs, sewers, watermains
and electrical lines were in place.
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Noted Architects and Contractors

During the course of Parkview's development, there were about 70 architects and about
as many contractors invoived in building the subdivision. Many of the architects
involved were well-established, and most of the contractors and builders were known
throughout the St. Louis area. Some architects and contractors designed homes for
themselves. The most important firms, which are mentioned below, define, on the whole,
Parkview's architectural fabric.

Roth and Study: This firm was responsible for nine houses in Parkview, all built
between 1911 and 1913 and consisting of well-proportioned examples of the Romantic,
eclectic stvles that were popular around the country during the first half of the
twentieth century. Their most interesting and well-executed style in Parkview was

the English Revivai. Their work =- combining different textures and massing
architectural elements together -- forms a distinctive design element in Parkview.

The conductor heads at the tops of downspouts on their buildings have the initials
"R-8" for Roth & Study. John Roth, who worked with E. G. lLewis, followed Lewis to
Catlifornia in 1915, Guy Study continued designing churches and residences for the
affluent in the $t. Louis area, sometimes in partnership with other architects. Along
with Benedict Farrar he designed 6250 Westminster in 1921. The combined efforts of
Roth and Study in Parkview are: on Pershing, 6326 (1914) and 6330 (ca. 1912-1914);

on Waterman, 6359 (1913), 6366 (1913), 6375 (ca. 1912-1913), and 6379 (Ca. 1912-1914);
on Westgate, 235 (1911) and 235 {(1911); and 6334 McPherson (1913).

Preston J. Bradshaw: Bradshaw {1880-1949) was responsible for twelve houses in Park-
view, with Edward Nolte in partnership in five of them. He had arrived in St. Louis
around 1907, at the age of 23, after graduating from Columbia University. He worked
for a brief period as a draftsman in the well-known architectural firm of McKim,

Mead and White.!3 Bradshaw is best known in the St. Louis area for his hotel and
apartment designs during the 1920s in the Central West End area, many on the National
Register of Historic Places. Some of his major designs were the Chase Hotel, Chase
Apartments, Coronado Hotel, and Forest Park Hotel. Bradshaw's designs were more con-
temporary and less reflective of eclectic prototypes. His detailing incorporated
several of the new concepts that evolved from the Arts and Crafts Movement and Art
Nouveau, with stained glass in curvilinear patterns, Craftsman use of various materials
in simplified form, exposed rafters, and wide, projecting eaves that evolved from the
Prairie School of architecture. The houses he designed in Parkview are 6254 Pershing
(1912), 6248 Waterman (1907), 6224 McPherson (1923), 6202 Westminster (1912), 6252
Westminster (1909), 6345 Westminster (1908), 447 Westgate (1910), 501 Westgate (1908).
The houses he designed in partnership with Edward Nolte were 6327 Westminster (1908},
and on Washington 6330 (1908), 6348 (1908) and 6360 (1908).

Edward F. Nolte {1870-1944) was originalily from St. Louis and studied at Washington
University. He was connected with the architecturﬂ] firm of L. Cass Miller for five
vears before going into his own practice in ]89&.] Nolte coliaborated with Preston
Bradshaw and later with Fred Nauman, One of his outstanding designs in Parkview is
435 Westgate (1910}). Of German descent, Nolte incorporated stylistic features that
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were characteristic of the Art Nouveau Movement in Germany, called Jugendstii.15

This contemporary house was significant and characteristic of this movement with

the geometric motifs applied to the front facade to encompass the fenestration and
roof lines. Other works include 6241 Waterman (1906), 435 Westgate (1910), 409
Westgate (1909), and 427 Westgate (1908). The houses he designed in partnership with
Fred Nauman were 6211 Westminster (1923) and 6324 Westminster (1926}. Nauman, who
started working with Nolte in 1913, designed many residences in the University City
and Clayton areas between 1910 and 1930. In_ 1944, after the death of Nolte, Nauman
formed the firm of Moresi, Nauman & 0'Nei1.16 He designed the facade of the Delmar Bank
at B605-09 Delmar in University City, which is currently the Lantern House Restaurant.
Among his other known works are the Parkview Apartments -- considered a landmark --

at 316-20 Skinker, immediately east of Parkview; the Lambskin Masonic Temple on
Kingshighway; and the Smith Block at 6504-10 Delmar, now occupied by Blueberry Hill.

He also designed several minor buildings for the Louisiana Purchase Exposition. With
Nauman, he designed 1 Forest Ridge in Clayton (1922) for C. Osgar Lamy, 16 Kingsbury
Place, and #5 -- the George B. Bullock house -- in Carrswo1d.]7 Together, Nolte and
Nauman also designed 3107 Russell (19282ﬁand 3205 Longfellow (1932) in Compton Heights,
which is also on the National Register.18

Louis B. Pendleton CBTS to St. Louis from Chicago to work with the Division of Exhibits
for the Warld's Fair. He designed four houses in Parkview. All four are contemporary
in style, with Arts and Crafts details. The house at 6351 Waterman (1910) has a large
stained-gltass bay window at the stair landing, filled with foliated, curvilinear
patterns. A plaster frieze is employed with diamond-shaped tiles inlaid in the frieze.
His other designs are 6315 Waterman, 6240 McPherson, and 6235 Washington.

George Bergfeld (1886-1927) was responsible for building about 35 houses in Parkview by
1913. His early houses were designed by the architect T. C. Lee. He built houses in

a variety of architectural styles. He is remembered best for his use of excellent building
materials and functional, flexible floor plans. Large entrance porches were also
characteristic of his work. Generally the porches were either situated across the front
elevation or on a side entry elevation. Many of houses, regardiess of the exterior

style, were decorated with Arts and Crafts details on the first floor inside. He

built for himself 6252 McPherson (1919), to designs of St. Louis architect Albert B.
Groves, who was known for his churches and commercial buildings downtown.

Ernest Klipstein (1866-1931) and Walter Rathmann (1880-1954). Both were natives of
St. Louis. Klipstein graduated from M.I.T. in 1894 and later studied in Munich and
Paris. Rathmann went to the University of Pennsylvania. Their partnership began
around 1908, They are best known for working with the Busch family: the "'Bauernhof' at
Grants Farm, and the Bevo Mill in south St. Louis. They designed five houses in Park-
view, all located in the city portion. These houses represent their early work. Klipstein
designed and lived at 6248 Washington (1908) which is a Georgian Revival adaptation., He
also designed half-timbered houses with Arts and Crafts motifs at 6223 Washington {1908)
?nd g§39 Washington (1908). Other works include 6225 Westminster and 6244 Washington

1906) .
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William P. McMahon (1876-1954), a native of St. Louis, started his own practice in
1907. He primarily designed medium~priced houses, flats, and apartments in St. Louis
and St. louis County. Houses that he designed in Parkview are 6219 Pershing (1910),
6235 Pershing (1914), 6249 Washington (1908), 6251 Washington (1911), and 315 Westgate
(1910).

Stephens § Pearson: This architectural firm started practice around 1907. Stephens
was listed as a draftsman the preceding ysar and Pearson was listed as a structural
engineer. Their office was in the same building as Albert Swasey's, who was hired
originally to design aE,least 20 houses in Parkview; there was possibly a connection
between the two firms.<" Swasey left town before he could fulfill his obligation;
Stephens and Pearson then designed the first houses built in Parkview, in the Colonial
Revival style. These were located at 6235 Waterman (1906}, 6242 Waterman (1906),

6254 Waterman (1906), 6255 Waterman (1906}, 6331 Waterman (1909}, and 6253 Westminster
(1907). The contractors were Humphreys and Vickery.

A. A. Fischer was one of St. Louis's mosj prolific builders. He began his Architectural
and Building Company in the late 1890's. z Most of his houses were speculative, usually
in groups on a particular street. He was responsible for about seven houses in Parkview.
He buiit many fine, affluent buildings in the St. Louis area. '

Ernst C. Janssen (1857-1946) designed 6246 McPherson (1907) and 6309 McPherson (1909),
which were two of the larger houses in Parkview. His work exemplifies an understanding
of building materials, style interpretation, and quality design.- Janssen designed about
fourteen houses in the Compton Heiggts residential subdivision and other buiidings of
distinction in the St. Louis area. His most lavish design is the Stockstrom House

at 3400 Russell, designed in 1907. Janssen was in partnership with Otto J. Wilhelmi
from 1879 through 1881.

Otto J. Wilhelmi (1853-1925) designed two large, ornate houses in Parkview. The house
at 6251 McPherson (1907) is an eclectic version of an ltalian palazzo built for brewer
and Parkview investor C. Marquard Forster. A distinctive feature is the use of terra
cotta motifs and cornices. The house at 6303 McPherson (1909) has a corner, conical
tower with a heavy, bracketed cornice and classical and medieval ornamentation. These
designs are similar to some of his work in Compton Heights. He was responsible for
twelve projacts there which were German Renaissance Revival and ltalian Renaissance
variations, responding to contemporary Eurcpean dﬁmestic architecture which he had
studied at the Karlsruhe Polytechnic in Germany.2

Barnett, Haynes, Barnett designed 6208 Washington (1908), and Tom P. Barnett designed
6238 Washington (1917).

Phin and Annie Kimball: 6200 McPherson was designed by its owners, the Kimballs, in

1910. The house, which is the only one of its kind in Parkview, commands the center

lot (behind the main entrance at McPherson and Waterman) and stands solid as a monument.
The house itself was designed by Annie Kimball, who had studied architecture at Washington
University; her husband, who was involved with the lumber industry, selected choice
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woods for the interior: birdseye, maple, mahogany, and walnut2® A distinctive feature
of the house is the interesting stained glass throughout.

Ancther noted architect who built in Parkview was Raymond Maritz, who designed 353
Westgate (1925-27) and 401 Westgate {ca. 1921), both Georgian Revival adaptations,
He built many fine residential homes for the affluent in the St. Louis area.

People in Parkview Past and Present

It is important to note what type of individual or family is attracted to this area. Some
persons who were responsible for the development of Parkview were Thomas H. Cobbs, a
Parkview Trustee for 23 years and an attorney by profession, who lived at 6224 Waterman;
Henry Caulfield, an original Trustee and a governor of Missouri, who tived at 6253
Washington; and George Bergfeld, who built 35 houses in Parkview and lived at 6252
McPherson. William A. Hirsh, architect, designed his own house at 6236 Waterman and-

another house at 333 Westgate.

Al least three mayors lived in Parkview. Bernard Dickmann,who was mayor of St. Louls
between 1933 and 1941, lived at 6227 McPherson. August Heman, mayor of University

City from 1913 to 1920, lived at 6361 Washington; Warren Flynn, also mayor of University
City (1920-25), lived at 521 Westgate. Harland Bartholomew, a pioneer in planning in
the St. Louis area and nationally, lived at 6228 Westminster (he was also a Parkview
Trustee). Other businessmen residing in Parkview included Luke E. Hart, Jr., president
of the Hamilton Brown Shoe Company (6306 McPherson) and C. Marquard Forster, brewer

and executive of St. Louis Brewing Association (6251 McPherson). Mildred Bastian,
organizer of the St. Louis Community College District, lived at 6203 Pershing. Dr.

Tom Dooley, founder of MEDICO, lived at 6314 Waterman. Ggperal William Stone, Superin-
tendent of the Air Force Academy, lived at 6324 Pershing.

This is not a comprehensive list but is intended to suggest the diversity of people
attracted toc Parkview. The names have changed, generations have come and gone, but
the same types of professional come to reside in the neighborhood. Their reasons

for selecting Parkview remain the same: its close proximity to schools, churches,
shopping, and recreation; its medium-to-large, well-proportioned, comfortable houses,
for sale at a good value; and its atmosphere -- park-like., peaceful, and quiet

within its boundaries -~ which creates an '"'urban oasis."
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NOTES

1. The private place system in St. Louis is discussed in Robert L. Vickery, Anthrophysical
Form (Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia, 1972).

2. Parkview Agents, Urban Oasis (St. Louis: Boar's Head Press, 1979), p. 1.
3. Urban Dasis, p. 1. _
L. Urban Qasis, p. 2.

5. Urban Oasis, p. 97.

6. Canard, Howard L. and William Hyde, Encyclopedia of the History of St. Louis, Vol. 3,
1899, p. 1739-1742.

7. Information from a copy of the Petition for Incorporation of University City, obtained
from Parkview Archives. Memorandum by Henry S. Caulfield representing Beredith Realty,
before St. Louis County Court, which was signed by 95% of the residents in Parkview,
stating precedents against designating large tracts of unoccupied land as a city.

8. Harris, Ni Ni, Legacy of Lions (University City, MO: University City Historical
Society, 1981), p. 69.

>

9. Information obtained from Parkview Gardens/Delmar Loop National Register Nomination,

1983.

10. Information gathered from Brentmoor Park, Brentmoor, and Forest Ridge National
Register Nominations prepared by Esley Hamilton, 1980; and St. Louis Section, American
Society of Landscape Architects, '"Guide to the Landscape Architecture of the St. Louis
Region,' Landscape Architecture 59 No. 3 (April 1969), p. 216.

11. Vickery, Anlthrophysical Form, p. 28.

12. Henry &. Caulfield, an original trustee, was associated with the development of
Parkview for over 60 years. Under the trust indenture, the laws could not be changed
during the lifetime of the last surviving trustees, as listed in the indenture.

13. Urban Gasis, p. 12.

14. Marquis, Albert Nelson, The Book of St. Louisans (St. Louis Republic, 1912), p. 448.

15. The Art Nouveau of the German Jugendstil is characterized by both floral (before 1900)
and abstract {(after 1900) trends. Geometric patterns and choice of building materials at
435 Westgate Avenue recall similar contemporary houses in Darmstadt Germany {Schmitzler,
Robert, Art Nouveau, New York: Abram, 1978, p. 133).
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16. Autobiographical material gathered from St. Louis County Parks and Recreation
survey sheet on 6605-09 Delmar (Delmar Bank) prepared in 1983. Fred R. Nauman remodelled
the front facade in 1944. Information gathered from St. Louis Chapter, AlA records.

17. Information from the Carrswold National Register Nomination, prepared by Esley
Hamilton, 1981.

18. Toft, Carolyn Hewes and Jane Molloy Porter, Compton Heights {Landmarks Association
of St. Louis, 1984), p. 49.

19. Marquis, Book of St. Louisans, p. 468.

20. Marquis, pp. 490 and 340.
21. Urban Qasis, p. 9.

22. Toft and Porter, Compton Heights, p. 43.

23. Toft and Porter, p. 46.
24.  Toft and Porter, p. 45.
25. Urban Oasis, p. 28.

26. This resident 1ist was taken from Appendix E in Urban Oasis, p. 115.

27. Urban Casis, p. 89.
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Verbal boundary description and justificationParkview is bounded on the east by Skinker 31vd., on
the south by Millbrook Boulevard (a former right-of-way of the St. Louis, Kansas City, and
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on the north by an alley situated 135 feet south of and parallel to the south line
of Delmar Boulevard.
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PARKVIEW HISTORIC DISTRICT Figure I of IV
St. Leouls City/st, Leuis County, Me.

Sketeh map of Parkview Histerie District.
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PARKVIEW HISTORIC DISTRICT Figure II of 1V
St. Louis City/st. Louis Ceounty, Mo.

Sketch map of the Parkview Higtoric District
Coded by style classification, based on

A Field Guide to American Heuses by
Virginia and Lee Me&Alester,
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PARKVIEW HISTORIC DISTRICT Figure III of IV
St. Louis City/St, Louls County, Mo,

Sketch Map of the Parkview Historic District,
coded by date of construetion,
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PARKVIEW HISTORIC DISTRICT Figure IV of IV
St. Louis City/St. Louis County, Mo.

Sketch map of the Parkview Historic District,
indicating houses shown #n phetographs.
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